RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

03-02-2016

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2015AP002154-CR Circuit Court Case No. 2013CF002723

Appeal No. 2015AP002155-CR Circuit Court Case No. 2013CM002488

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

EARNEST LEE NICHOLSON,

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE MARY TRIGGIANO AND MEL FLANAGAN PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

J. DENNIS THORNTON Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1016122

230 West Wells Street Suite 405 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53203-1866 Telephone: (414) 257-3380 Facsimile: (414) 257-3390

ISSUES PRESENTED

Did the Circuit Court Properly Deny Mr. Nicholson's Motion To Dismiss Case Number 2013CM002488 on the grounds that he Was Denied His Constitutional Right to Effective Assistance of Counsel and that the Order Upon Which this Prosecution Was Based was Void Without a Hearing?

The trial court found that the No Contact Order Issued in Case Number 2011CF005715 Was a Valid Exercise of the Court's

Discretion and that Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Failing to Collaterally Attack that Order.

Did the Circuit Court Properly Deny Mr. Nicholson's Motion For a New Trial in Case Number 2013CF002723 on the Ground that He Was Denied His Right to a Fair Trial by the Admission of Evidence that Affected his Substantial Rights Without a Hearing?

The trial court found that the out of court statements by MDF was admissible as an excited utterance and that the statement was not testimonial.

Did the Circuit Court Properly Deny Mr. Nicholson's Motion For a New Trial in case numbers 2013CM002488 and 2013CF002723 on the ground that he was denied his constitutional right to testify?

The trial court found that Mr. Nicholson forfeited his right to testify.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The opportunity for oral argument is requested because of the novelty of the issues presented. Publication is requested. The case will enunciate a new rule of law or modify, and clarify an existing rule. § 809.23(1)(a)1 stats. Further, the issues will present an established rule of law in a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions. § 809.23(1)(a)2 stats.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In Milwaukee County case number 2013CM002488, Mr. Nicholson was charged by criminal complaint in count one with intentionally violating a court order issued under §973.049(2) for a

misdemeanor conviction, as a repeater, contrary to § 941.39(2), § 939.51(3)(a), 968.075(1)(a) and § 939.62(1)(a) stats. on or about June 6, 2013, in count two with intentionally causing bodily harm to MDF, by an act done with intent to cause bodily harm to that person, without consent, as a repeater, contrary to § 940.19(1), § 939.51(3)(a), 968.075(1)(a) and § 939.62(1)(a) stats. on or about June 6, 2013, and in count three with disorderly conduct, as a repeater, contrary to § 947.01(1), § 939.51(3)(b), 968.075(1)(a) and § 939.62(1)(a) stats. on or about June 6, 2013.

That complaint was filed on June 8, 2013.

Initial appearance was held on that date. Mr. Nicholson appeared in person and by counsel. Bail was set at \$500.00 cash. Pretrial conference was scheduled for June 28, 2013.

In Milwaukee County case number 2013CF002723, Mr. Nicholson was charged by criminal complaint in count one with causing great bodily harm to MDF by an act done with intent to cause bodily harm to that person, as a repeater, contrary to § 940.19(4), § 939.50(3)(h), 968.075(1)(a) and § 939.62(1)(b) stats. on or about November 24, 2011.

That complaint was filed on June 14, 2013.

¹ This charge had previously been issued as count one in Milwaukee County case number 2011CF005715 but was dismissed without prejudice on March 13, 2012.

Initial appearance was held on that date. Mr. Nicholson appeared in person and by counsel. Bail was set at \$5000.00 cash.

Preliminary examination was scheduled on June 28, 2013.

Mr. Nicholson appeared in person and by counsel. Preliminary examination was waived. The State filed an information alleging the same offense stated in the complaint.

Arraignment was scheduled on July 18, 2013. That hearing was adjourned to July 30, 2013, when Mr. Nicholson was not produced for the proceeding.

On July 30, 2013, Mr. Nicholson appeared in person and by counsel. Pleas of not guilty were entered. The court ordered case numbers 2013CF002723 and 2013CM002488 joined for trial.

The cases were scheduled for jury trial on October 21, 2013.

Prior to commencement of the actual trial on that date, the State moved the court to admit certain out of court statements attributed to the alleged victim, MDF, as nontestimonial, when MDF did not appear for trial. Following an evidentiary hearing on that issue, the court ruled:

THE COURT: The CAD report will be used to inform the testimony of when people got a call, when they arrived, and what he saw when he

arrived. This officer or other officers may be testifying, I don't know. But, you know, what he heard, what he saw, what concerned him at that time in terms of the safety, and that one statement really, that's it.

(R 56, p. 44, ll. 9-16; App. p. 135)

Trial proceeded. Prior to jury selection, the state moved to dismiss counts two and three in case number 2013CM002488. This motion was granted by the court. (R 57, p. 12, ll. 20-25)

During the course of the trial at least two distinct issues arose.

The first issue involved the allegation of Mr. Nicholson's intentionally violating a court order issued under §973.049(2) for a misdemeanor conviction, as a repeater, contrary to § 941.39(2), § 939.51(3)(a), 968.075(1)(a) and § 939.62(1)(a) stats.

The initial context of the discussion concerned whether Mr. Nicholson would stipulate that an order had been issued under \$973.049(2) prohibiting Mr. Nicholson from having contact with MDF. The court inquired how the state intended to prove the allegation. The state's theory consisted of admitting a letter from Mr. Nicholson requesting that the supposed no contact order be amended and the judgment from case number 2011CF005715. (R 58, pp. 4-10)

The second issue concerned Mr. Nicholson's physical presence in the courtroom during the trial. After repeated discussions with Mr. Nicholson, the court concluded that Mr. Nicholson should be excluded from the courtroom. (R 60, pp. 3-13) After the state concluded its case, Mr. Nicholson was returned to the courtroom to determine if he intended to testify. The court concluded based on its colloquy with Mr. Nicholson that he had waived his right to testify. (R 60, pp. 25-41; App. 136-52)

The jury convicted Mr. Nicholson of the submitted offenses as charged.

At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Flanagan took trial counsel's motion to withdraw under advisement, pending the State Public Defender's interviewing Mr. Nicholson. The cases were adjourned to October 31, 2013.

New counsel was appointed for Mr. Nicholson. The cases were adjourned for sentencing on December 23, 2013.

On December 23, 2013, the cases were adjourned off the record to February 17, 2014.

On February 17, 2014, the cases were adjourned to March 28, 2014.

Between February 17, 2014 and March 28, 2014, Mr. Nicholson made several pro se filings including one described as

"Get Judge Mel Flanagan to Remove Herself from my case", another described as "Remove Attorney Scott Phillips as his Attorney" and another described as "Motion for a Mistrial".

On March 28, 2014, counsel for Mr. Nicholson withdrew with Mr. Nicholson indicating that he would retain private counsel.

Subsequently Mr. Nicholson contacted the State Public Defender indicating that he wanted counsel appointed. A third attorney was then appointed for Mr. Nicholson.

Following multiple adjournments and pro se filings, third counsel's motion to withdraw was heard and denied by the court on September 5, 2014.

On October 24, 2014, Judge Flanagan sentenced Mr. Nicholson in case number 2013CF002723 to a maximum term of imprisonment of 6 years (consecutive to case 2013CM002488), with credit for 0 days time served; with an initial term of confinement in the Wisconsin State Prison system of 3 years and a maximum term of extended supervision of 3 years.

In case number 2013CM002488, the Court ordered Mr. Nicholson to serve 153 days (Consecutive to case 2013CF2723), in the House of Correction, with 153 days credit for time served.

Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief was filed on October 27, 2014.

Counsel was appointed on December 1, 2014.

On February 2, 2015, Mr. Nicholson filed a pro se motion to discharge appellate counsel and proceed pro se.

That motion was denied on February 3, 2015.

Mr. Nicholson again asked current counsel to withdraw and on February 27, 2015, counsel filed a motion to withdraw as appellate counsel. (R 35) On March 2, 2015, the Circuit Court received further correspondence from Mr. Nicholson indicating that he no longer wished counsel to withdraw. (R 39)

The State Public Defender filed a report indicating that no further appointment of counsel would be made. (R 36)

Counsel's motion to withdraw as appellate counsel was denied by order dated March 12, 2015. (R 38)

The last transcript was received on March 16, 2015.

By order dated May 20, 2015, this Court extended the time for filing a notice of appeal or postconviction motion until July 17, 2015, and by further order dated July 15, 2015, that time was extended until August 28, 2015.

A postconviction motion was filed on August 27, 2015 and denied without hearing by written order filed on October 7, 2015. (R 49; App. 110-18)

Mr. Nicholson's notice of appeal and statement on transcript were filed on October 22, 2015.

The record on appeal was prepared to be forwarded to the Court of Appeals on November 25, 2015. By order dated December 3, 2015, this Court extended that time limit to December 18, 2015. That record was received in this Court on December 23, 2015.

By order dated December 3, 2015, this Court ordered the cases consolidated for briefing and disposition.

By order dated January 6, 2016, this Court ordered that case number 2015AP2155-CR be decided by a three-judge panel.

By order dated January 25, 2016, this Court extended the time for filing defendant-appellant's brief until March 4, 2016.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A complete understanding of the facts requires reviewing Milwaukee County circuit court case number 2011CF005715. In that case, Mr. Nicholson was charged in count one with causing great bodily harm to MDF by an act done with intent to cause bodily harm to that person, as a repeater, contrary to §§ 940.19(4), 939.50(3)(h), 968.075(1)(a) and 939.62(1)(b) stats. alleged to have occurred on or about November 24, 2011. In count two of case number 2011CF005715, Mr. Nicholson was charged with resisting

an officer, as a repeater, contrary to §§ 946.41(1), 939.51(3)(a) and 939.62(1)(b).

Count 1 in case number 2011CF005715 was dismissed without prejudice on March 13, 2012, when MDF failed to appear for trial. Count 2 of that case proceeded to trial on March 13-14, 2012. Mr. Nicholson was convicted as charged.

On April 3, 2012, the court, the Honorable Mel Flanagan, presiding, sentenced Mr. Nicholson to one year of initial confinement, less 130 days credit² and one year of extended supervision on the resisting conviction. In that sentencing hearing, the Court also ordered various conditions including a no contact order with MDF:

You are to have no contact at all with this victim. None. (App. p. 128, ll. 16-17)

And then, if you were to violate the no contact order, you could be charged again with violating the conditions of your supervision, and you could be charged with another nine-month offense for doing

² On April 23, 2012, the judgment of conviction was ordered amended the judgment of conviction to reflect a total of 131 days of sentence credit

that.

As well as being revoked on

your supervision and having to serve the ES time.

(App. pp. 129-30)

The allegation of Mr. Nicholson causing great bodily harm to MDF by an act done with intent to cause bodily harm to that person, as a repeater, contrary to §§ 940.19(4), 939.50(3)(h), 968.075(1)(a) and 939.62(1)(b) stats. alleged to have occurred on or about November 24, 2011, was reissued as case number 2013CF002723.

Further facts will be stated as necessary.

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED MR.
NICHOLSON'S MOTION TO DISMISS CASE
NUMBER 2013CM002488 ON THE GROUNDS THAT
HE WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO
EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND THAT
THE ORDER UPON WHICH THIS PROSECUTION
WAS BASED WAS VOID.

A. Standard of Review

Statutory interpretation is reviewed de novo. *In Matter of the Guardianship of James DK*, 2006 WI 68, ¶ 13, 291 Wis.2d 333, 343, 718 N.W.2d 38, citing *State v. Reed*, 2005 WI 53, ¶ 13, 280 Wis. 2d 68, 695 N.W.2d 315.

The purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what a statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect. The Court begins with the statute's language assuming that the legislature's intent is expressed in the words it used. *Id.*, ¶ 45. Language is generally given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning. Id. If the meaning is plain, the Court ordinarily stops the inquiry. *Id*.

B. § 973.049 Clearly and Unambiguously Sets Forth the Legislative Intent on its Face.

§ 973.049 was enacted by 2005 WISCONSIN ACT 32:

"An Act to create 941.39 and 973.049 of the statutes; relating to: sentencing discretion of a court and providing a penalty.

The people of the state of Wisconsin, represented in senate and assembly, do enact as follows:

Section 1. 941.39 of the statutes is created to read:

941.39 Victim or co-actor contact. Whoever intentionally violates a court order issued under s. 973.049 (2) is guilty of a Class A misdemeanor.

Section 2. 973.049 of the statutes is created to read:

973.049 Sentencing; restrictions on contact. (1) In this section:

- (a) "Co-actor" means any individual who was a party to a crime considered at sentencing, whether or not the individual was charged with or convicted of the crime considered at sentencing.
- (b) "Crime considered at sentencing" means any crime for which the defendant was convicted or any read-in crime, as defined in s. 973.20 (1g) (b).
- (2) When a court imposes a sentence on an individual or places an individual on probation for the conviction of a crime, the court may prohibit the individual from contacting victims of, or co-actors in, a crime considered at sentencing during any part of the individual's sentence or period of probation if the court determines that the prohibition would be in the interest of public protection. For purposes of the prohibition, the court may determine who are the victims of any crime considered at sentencing.
- (3) If a court issues an order under sub. (2), the court shall inform the individual of the prohibition and of the penalty under s. 941.39."

The statute was subsequently amended by 2011 WISCONSIN ACT 267:

"An Act to renumber and amend 941.39; to amend 968.075 (5) (a) 2. and 973.049 (2) and (3); and to create 941.39 (1) of the statutes; relating to: prohibitions against contacting certain persons and providing penalties.

The people of the state of Wisconsin, represented in senate and assembly, do enact as follows:

Section 1. 941.39 of the statutes is renumbered 941.39 (intro.) and amended to read:

941.39 Victim, witness, or co-actor contact. (intro.) Whoever intentionally violates a court order issued under s. 973.049 (2) is guilty of one of the following:

(2) If the court order results from a conviction for a misdemeanor, a Class A misdemeanor.

Section 2. 941.39 (1) of the statutes is created to read:

941.39 (1) If the court order results from a conviction for a felony, a Class H felony.

Section 3. 968.075 (5) (a) 2. of the statutes is amended to read:

968.075 (5) (a) 2. An arrested person who intentionally violates this paragraph shall be required to forfeit <u>may be fined</u> not more than \$1,000 \$10,000 or imprisoned for not more than 9 months or both.

Section 4. 973.049 (2) and (3) of the statutes are amended to read:

973.049 (2) When a court imposes a sentence on an individual or places an individual on probation for the conviction of a crime, the court may prohibit the individual from contacting victims of, witnesses to, or co-actors in, a crime considered at sentencing during any part of the individual's sentence or period of probation if the court determines

that the prohibition would be in the interest of public protection. For purposes of the prohibition, the court may determine who are the victims of or witnesses to any crime considered at sentencing.

(3) If a court issues an order under sub. (2), the court shall inform the individual of the prohibition and of the penalty under s. 941.39 <u>include</u> the prohibition in the judgment of conviction for the crime.
Section 5. Initial applicability.

(1) The treatment of section 973.049 (2) and (3) of the statutes first applies to sentences imposed or placements made on the effective date of this subsection."

Since Mr. Nicholson was sentenced in case number 2011CF005715 on April 3, 2012, the statutory amendments of 2011 WISCONSIN ACT 267, are not applicable to his situation.

Although "...words and phrases shall be construed according to common and approved usage ... technical words and phrases and others that have a peculiar meaning in the law shall be construed according to such meaning." § 990.01(1)

* Section 991.11, Wisconsin Statutes 2009-10: Effective date of acts. "Every act and every portion of an act enacted by the legislature over the governor's partial veto which does not expressly prescribe the time when it takes effect shall take effect on the day after its date of publication as designated" by the secretary of state [the date of publication may not be

more than 10 working days after the date of enactment].

³ Date of enactment: April 9, 2012 2011 Assembly Bill 269 Date of publication*: April 23, 2012

The phrase "crime considered at sentencing" is clearly and specifically defined as "...any crime for which the defendant was convicted or any read-in crime, as defined in s. 973.20 (1g) (b)."

Language "...bracketed by quotation marks" is "...an unusual and significant legislative signal that the statute should be followed to the letter." *State v. Douangmala*, 2002 WI 62, ¶ 21, 253 Wis.2d 173, 646 N.W.2d 1.

"The statutory language is given its common and ordinary meaning, and technical or specially-defined terms are given the technical or special definitional meaning assigned to them. If this process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then there is no ambiguity, and the statute is applied according to this ascertainment of its meaning." *Bruno v. Milwaukee County*, 2003 WI 28, ¶ 20, 260 Wis.2d 633, 660 NW 2d 656 (internal citations omitted)

C. The Circuit Court's Statutory Interpretation of § 973.049 Contravenes the Clearly and Unambiguously Stated Meaning of that Statute.

It is undisputed that a Court has broad discretion is fashioning in a criminal sentence. § 973.01(5) provides that "...Whenever the court imposes a bifurcated sentence under sub. (1), the court may impose conditions upon the term of extended supervision."

"It is within the broad discretion of the [circuit] court to impose conditions as long as the conditions are reasonable and appropriate."

State v. Koenig, 2003 WI App 12, ¶7, 259 Wis. 2d 833, 837, 656 N.W.2d 499, 501.

That discretion is not boundless and conditions must be reasonable and appropriate.

This sentencing Court could reasonably have found that a no contact order with MDF under this general provision was appropriate.

Violation of that order, as noted by the Court, could result in Mr. Nicholson's being charged with violating the terms of his extended supervision and possibly revoked. (App. pp. 129-30)

D. The Circuit Court's Exercise of Discretion is Erroneous in This Instance.

However, the Court went further stating to Mr. Nicholson that he "...could be charged with another nine month offense for doing that." (App. pp. 129-30)

§ 973.049 does provide the Court discretion in the language that "the court may prohibit the individual from contacting victims of, or co-actors in, a crime considered at sentencing" and "...the court may determine who are the victims of any crime considered at sentencing."

The existent case law further defines that discretion. The postconviction order cites *State v. Campbell*, 2011 WI App 18, 794 N.W.2d 276, 794 NW 2d 276, in support of the conclusion that:

The defendant's

F Had the officers not attempted to arrest the defendant for the injuries to Fi the resisting would not have occurred.

Campbell is a sexual assault case dealing with the wide range of damage occasioned by sexual assault within the family unit and is both factually specific to that situation and inapposite here.

This broad interpretaion of § 973.049 renders the operative definition of "crime considered at sentencing" surplusage. "Crime considered at sentencing" means any crime for which the defendant was convicted or any read-in crime, as defined in s. 973.20 (1g) (b).

The court erroneously exercises its discretion when it applies the wrong legal standard or makes a decision not reasonably supported by the facts of record. *State v. Avery*, 2013 WI 13,¶ 23, 345 Wis.2d 407, 826 N.W.2d 60.

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