RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **06-01-2016**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2015AP2154-CR and 2015AP2155-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

EARNEST LEE NICHOLSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM TWO JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MEL FLANAGAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

A Wisconsin Legislative Council Amendment Memo for 2005 Assembly Bill 62, which became 2005 Wisconsin Act 32, states that AB 62 authorizes a court to prohibit a convicted individual "from contacting victims of, or co-actors in, a crime considered at sentencing if the court determines that the prohibition would be in the interest of public protection." (R-App. 101-02.) The same legislative council memo explains that Assembly Amendment 1, to 2005

Assembly Bill 62 by Representative Gundrum, "[E]xpressly authorizes the court to determine who was a victim of the crime for purposes of the no-contact order. (There is no definition of 'victim' in the original bill; allowing the court to determine who is a victim of a particular crime allows the court flexibility to tailor a no-contact order to individual circumstances.)" (R-App. 101.) The amendment was adopted, and the language of the amendment, stating, "For purposes of the prohibition, the court may determine who are the victims of any crime considered at sentencing," is contained in the enacted law. (R-App. 101, 103.)

In this case, the sentencing court properly exercised its broad discretion and tailored a no-contact order to individual circumstances by determining that MDF was a victim of Nicholson's resisting or obstructing an officer conviction. At sentencing, the court stated:

[Y]ou put the officers at risk, you put your child at risk, you put this woman at risk for further harm. . . .

It's amazing that nobody did get hurt worse.

So that's the situation I have to look at, in terms of the seriousness of the offense.

And . . . [y]ou know, I understand that this woman is crazy enough to want you back.

I mean, you have harmed her tremendously.... You have made her believe that she is going to have a wonderful life now, that you're gonna marry her, that everything will be great....

You used charm. . . . You didn't put pressure on her, threaten her, coerce her, you charmed her out of coming to court.

And it worked. It worked for you.

But I don't believe it's in the community's interest to let the two of you continue in a relationship which is clearly dysfunctional, dangerous, for that child and your neighbors and everybody else. . . .

(See 49:3-4.)

As the circuit court recognized in its decision denying Nicholson's motion for postconviction relief, when it ordered Nicholson to have no contact with MDF, it was properly exercising its discretion to protect the public. As the circuit court noted:

[T]he officers were acting in their official capacities and with lawful authority while investigating the horrible injuries sustained by [MDF]. The defendant had been named as a suspect, and the officers were looking for him. When they received information about his whereabouts, they attempted to arrest him. The lawful authority to arrest the defendant stemmed from the officers' determination that they had probable cause to believe that he committed a violent crime against [MDF], and when they tried to arrest him, he resisted. The defendant's conviction for resisting an officer is therefore inexorably linked to his alleged actions toward [MDF]. Had the officers not attempted to arrest the defendant for the injuries to [MDF], the resisting would not have occurred. The defendant views the resisting offense in isolation; however, that offense was part of a larger criminal episode which culminated with allegations of extreme violence by the defendant against his thengirlfriend and culminated with his arrest. The court finds that the prohibition on contact was proper under the circumstances, and therefore trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to collaterally attack it.

(49:5.)

On appeal, Nicholson does not explain how the sentencing court erroneously exercised its discretion in finding that MDF was a victim of Nicholson's crime of resisting an officer. As the circuit court concluded, the sentencing court applied the law to the facts, and properly concluded that MDF was a victim of the resisting conviction the court considered at sentencing, and that a no-contact order was necessary to protect MDF, her child, and the public.

Nicholson also claims that his trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by not moving to dismiss the charge for violating a no-contact order. (Nicholson's Br. 18-20.) To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, "[a] defendant must prove both that his or her attorney's deficient and performance was that the deficient performance was prejudicial." Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 26 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). To prove deficient performance, a defendant must prove that counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* (citations omitted).

To prove prejudice, a defendant must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's error, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. (citing $State\ v$. Guerard, 2004 WI 85, ¶ 43, 273 Wis. 2d 250, 682 N.W.2d 12). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. (citations omitted).

Nicholson has shown neither deficient performance for not challenging the no-contact order, nor prejudice. As the court concluded, the "prohibition on contact was proper under the circumstances, and therefore trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to collaterally attack it." (49:5.) As explained above, the court properly exercised its discretion in prohibiting contact. And trial counsel's decision not to challenge the order could not have been prejudicial because, as the circuit court noted, it would not have granted the motion had it been filed.

Because the record conclusively disproves Nicholson's claims, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying his claims without a hearing.

C. The circuit court properly denied Nicholson's motion for a new trial in case no. 2013CF2723 because it concluded that it did not erroneously admit evidence.

Nicholson asserted in his motion for postconviction relief that he is entitled to a new trial in case no. 2013CF2723 because the trial court improperly admitted evidence at trial, specifically remarks MDF made to a police officer who had been dispatched to her residence on a battery complaint. (48:13-18.)

Before trial, the State moved to introduce MDF's statements. (7.) The State asserted that when Officer Jeffrey Waldorf arrived at the residence, he observed MDF screaming in pain. He said that MDF was able to tell him that Nicholson had choked her and struck her in the face. (7:2.) The State asserted that MDF's statement was admissible as an excited utterance, which is an out-of-court statement that relates to a startling event made while the declarant is under the stress of excitement caused by the event. Wis. Stat. § 908.03(2). An excited utterance constitutes admissible hearsay if the party who seeks to admit the out-of-court statement demonstrates: (1) the existence of a startling event or condition; (2) that the statement relates to the startling event or condition; and (3) that the declarant made the statement while still under the stress or excitement that the event or condition caused. State v. Huntington, 216 Wis. 2d 671, 681-82, 575 N.W.2d 268 (1998). Under the excited utterance exception, time is measured by the duration of the condition of excitement rather than the mere passage of time from the event described. Id. at 683.

Nicholson opposed the motion to admit the evidence, on confrontation grounds. In *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004), the Supreme Court held that the Confrontation Clause generally prohibits the admission of a declarant's out-of-court testimonial statements if the declarant does not testify at trial and the defendant has not had an opportunity to cross-examine the declarant.

When a defendant raises a confrontation challenge to an out-of-court statement's admissibility, the court applies a two-step test to resolve the issue. First, the court must decide whether the challenged statement is admissible under the rules of evidence. *State v. Manuel*, 2005 WI 75, ¶ 23, 281 Wis. 2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811. Second, if the statement is admissible under the rules of evidence, the court must determine if the statement's admission violates a defendant's right to confrontation. *Id.* ¶ 25.

In assessing whether a statement violates a defendant's confrontation rights, the court must assess whether the statement is testimonial or nontestimonial. The United States Supreme Court did not define "testimonial" in *Crawford*. But it identified three formulations of testimonial statements.

[E]x parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent—that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examinations, prior testimony that the defendant was unable to cross-examine, or similar pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially.

. . . .

[E]xtrajudicial statements . . . contained in formalized testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions.

. . . .

[S]tatements that were made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial.

Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51-52 (citation omitted). The Wisconsin Supreme Court recognizes all three formulations. *Manuel*, 281 Wis. 2d 554, ¶ 39. If the statement was testimonial, then the statement was admissible under the Sixth Amendment only if the witness was unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness. Id. ¶ 36.

A court may admit a nontestimonial, out-of-court statement of an unavailable person if the statement has adequate indicia of reliability. A statement is reliable if it falls within a firmly rooted hearsay exception or upon a showing of a particularized guarantee of trustworthiness. *Manuel*, 281 Wis. 2d 554, ¶61 (citing *Ohio v. Roberts*, 448 U.S. 56, 65-66 (1980), (abrogated as applicable to testimonial statements, but not as to nontestimonial statements, by *Crawford*, 541 U.S. 36)).

Whether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right to confrontation presents an issue of constitutional fact. A reviewing court adopts the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but independently applies the appropriate constitutional standard to those facts. $State\ v.\ Norman,\ 2003\ WI\ 72,\ \P\ 24,\ 262\ Wis.\ 2d\ 506,\ 664\ N.W.2d\ 97.$

After a hearing on the motion, the circuit court concluded that the evidence was admissible under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. The court found that MDF "was extremely uncomfortable and in tremendous pain and loud and yelling and screaming and crying." (56:42.) The court concluded that the questions Officer Waldorf asked MDF "were necessary for medical and safety reasons." (56:43.) The court concluded that the officer needed to learn whether he was dealing with a gunshot wound or a stabbing, or something else, so that he could determine what type of medical attention MDF needed, and whether MDF, officers, or anyone else in the area were in danger. (56:43.) The court concluded that the questioning was critical and in the interests of safety, and that "brief statement that we've discussed at length," was admissible. (56:43.)

On appeal, Nicholson argues that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in admitting MDF's remarks as an excited utterance. (Nicholson's Br. 20-24.) He quotes Officer Waldorf's testimony at the motion hearing,

but does not explain exactly what evidence he believes was erroneously admitted.

Attrial. Officer Waldorf testified about his observations when he arrived at MDF's residence. He said he observed that MDF had an eye injury, and that "she had blood coursing down her face, but at the same time there was blood on her face, there was a trail of clear viscous fluid. She was holding her eye closed, and between her eyelashes, I could see that there was a white, meatlike substance between her eyelashes." (59:15-16.) Officer Waldorf testified that MDF was screaming and crying. (59:15.) He said he moved MDF inside her apartment, and asked her for some details, "to ascertain the situation, find out what was going on, find out if it was safe for myself and fellow officers," and that he got "basic details" from her. (59:17.)

The "basic details" are presumably what Nicholson asserts were erroneously admitted. Officer Waldorf said that MDF told him that "her live-in boyfriend, Earnest Nicholson, had punched her in the face and choked her." (59:17.) The prosecutor later asked Officer Waldorf if MDF had said that Nicholson was her "live-in boyfriend," and Officer Waldorf responded that she had said "something to that effect." (59:21.) He also verified that MDF "use[d] a name." (59:21.)

Nicholson sets forth the three-part test for determining whether a statement is an excited utterance, and asserts that MDF's statement to Officer Waldorf does not fall under the excited utterance exception because it "does not meet this criterion." (Nicholson's Br. 23-24.)

It is unclear exactly what part of the test Nicholson believes the evidence did not satisfy. As the circuit court recognized, MDF had just suffered a serious and extremely painful injury, her statement related to the violent incident and her condition, and she made the statement while still "in tremendous pain and loud and yelling and screaming and crying." (56:42.)

Nicholson asserts that MDF's statement was testimonial because Officer Waldrof said at the motion hearing that MDF said that Nicholson had injured her and she was willing to be a complainant. He argues that "[p]olice asking who has committed a particular act would lead an objective witness to reasonably believe that the statement would be available for use at trial." (Nicholson's Br. 24.)

But as the circuit court concluded, Officer Waldorf asked Nicholson who had injured her in order to determine if the perpetrator was in the area, and posed a danger to MDF or the officers. (56:43.) As the court recognized, this information was necessary for "medical and safety reasons," not for the purpose of prosecuting Nicholson. (56:43.)

The circuit court's conclusion that the trial court properly admitted the evidence was correct, and this court should affirm.

D. The circuit court correctly denied Nicholson's claim that he was denied his right to testify at trial.

In his motion for postconviction relief, Nicholson argued that he was denied his constitutional right to testify. (48:18-19.)

The court denied Nicholson's claim, pointing to the portions of the transcript in which it asked Nicholson, again and again, if he wanted to testify. The court concluded that it had

[M]ade it abundantly clear to the defendant that he had a choice to testify or not to testify. Likewise, the court gave the defendant several opportunities to inform the court that he would like to testify. Trial counsel indicated to the court that he and the defendant had discussed the possibility of the defendant testifying. The court gave the defendant notice that his failure to respond to the court's questions would lead the court to presume that he did not want to testify. The court gave the defendant multiple opportunities to say he wanted to testify, and he chose not to respond to the court's questions and thereby

waived his right to do so. The defendant cannot refuse to cooperate and later complain that he was denied his right to testify.

(49:8.)

On appeal, Nicholson acknowledges that the court held a colloquy with him to determine whether he wanted to testify, but he asserts that "[t]here was no distinct conclusion to that colloquy," and that "[t]he record is devoid of evidence that he had waived the right to testify." (Nicholson's Br. 26.) He asserts that "[h]e should have been allowed to testify and the total denial of that right violated his right to a fair trial." (Nicholson's Br. 27.)

There is no dispute about the standards that apply to a defendant's decision whether to testify. A trial court must conduct a colloquy with a defendant to determine if the defendant understands the right to testify, has discussed the decision with counsel, and is waiving the right to testify. State v. Weed, 2003 WI 85, ¶ 43, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485. If the court fails to conduct an adequate waiver colloquy, the defendant is entitled to a new trial unless the court's error was harmless. State v. Nelson, 2014 WI 70, ¶43, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317.

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